I.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner, Rick Allen Riffe, through his attorney, Suzanne Lee 

Elliott, seeks review. 

II. 
COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision affirming 

Riffe's conviction and sentence on November 10, 2015. App. A. 

III. 
ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Did the trial court abuse its discretion and deny Riffe the right to 

present his defense when it prohibited him from calling an expert on the 

weaknesses in eyewitness identifications? 

IV. 
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Judge Kozinski recently authored a Preface for the Georgetown 

Law Journal, which he simply titles "Criminal Law 2.0." The Honorable 

Alex Kozinski, Criminal Law 2.0, 44 Geo. L.J. Ann. Rev. Crim. Proc. iii 

(20 15). It is a comprehensive review and critique of the flaws and 

sh01tcomings of the current U.S. justice system. His very first observation 

is that eyewitness identification is highly unreliable and mistaken 

eyewitness testimony was a factor in more than one-third of wrongful 
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conviction cases. He notes that one of the problems is that "courts have 

been slow in allowing defendants to present evidence on the fallibility of 

eyewitnesses." !d. 

In this case the State initiated a murder prosecution 27 years after 

the crime. There was no forensic evidence to support Riffe's conviction. 

Instead, the State relied upon the testimony of witnesses who had been 

interviewed repeatedly over the years, saw numerous photo montages and 

who, in many cases, changed their identifications. Yet, the trial judge 

forbid Riffe from calling an eyewitness identification expert to explain 

why the State's case against Riffe was flawed. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed this decision without a thorough discussion of the issue or the 

constitutional implications of denying Riffe the opportunity to present a 

defense. 

This Court should grant review of this important issue. 

v. 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. THE MURDERS 

Edward (Ed) and Wilhelmina (Mitmie) Maurin, both in their 80's, 

were murdered on December 19 or 20th, 1985. Twenty-seven years later, 

the State charged Rick Allen Riffe with two counts of first-degree murder, 

two counts of first-degree kidnapping, two counts of first-degree robbery, 
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and one count of first-degree burglary in relationship to the Maurin 

murders. 

The State also alleged that the crimes were committed against 

particularly vulnerable victims, with deliberate cruelty and with an 

egregious lack of remorse. Because the State believed that Riffe acted in 

concert with his deceased brother, John Gregory Riffe, the State alleged 

that Rick was a principle or an accomplice. CP 1-7. 

On December 19, 1985, Ed and Minnie Maurin plmmed to 

entertain friends at a Christmas luncheon. RP 44. When the guests arrived 

at the Maurin home, no one was present. RP 45. After members of the 

extended family! were notified, they proceeded to the home. RP 45-49. 

Family members noted that Minnie's purse was under some newspapers 

sitting beside a big overstuffed chair and a bank statement was open by the 

telephone. RP 48, 70. There was $160 cash in the purse. RP 733. Another 

family member found a box containing bank statements on the bathroom 

floor. RP 72. There were tlu·ee sets of plates and three sets of silverware 

in the dishwasher. RP 736. Sometime later, the police found $2,100 cash 

in the house. RP 880. 

I Minnie had been previously married to George Hadaller, who died in 1958. According 
to Minnie's son, Dennis Hadaller, there were 440 members of his extended family, 300 of 
whom lived in Lewis County. RP 147-48. 
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The police were notified and a search began for the couple. 

Although the house had a broken window used for entry by family 

members over many years, there were no signs of forced entry. RP 139, 

167,340,703. There was no sign of a struggle. RP 141. 

On December 20, 1985, the Maurins' 1969 green Chrysler 

Newport was discovered in the Yardbird's shopping complex parking lot. 

RP 368. There were blood stains inside and the key was in the ignition. 

RP 375, 434-44. The police also found shotgun pellets in the vehicle. RP 

380, 415. 

Ed and Minnie's bodies were discovered on Christmas Eve in a 

wooded area on Stearns Road. RP 74, 550. Crime scene investigators 

opined that they had been shot with a "12 gauge shotgun that had a 

shortened barrel, much like ... a sawed-off shotgun." RP 483, 636-50. 

See also, Exhibits 689, 690. 

B. THE INVESTIGATION 

Lewis County law enforcement investigated immediately. They 

learned that Minnie's son, Dennis Hadaller, and grandson, Michael 

Hadaller, had driven by the Maurin residence at about 5:30a.m. on the 
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19th. RP 91-92, 161-62. It was dark and foggy,2 but they noticed a light 

on in Ed and Minnie's bedroom. RP 92-93, 162. According to them, this 

was an unusual hour for the couple to be awake. !d. 

They also learned that Ed probably called Sterling Bank about 

closing time on the evening ofDecember 18, 1985, to request withdrawal 

of a large sum of money. RP 1348-50. He called again between 9:30 and 

10:00 a.m. on the morning of the 19th. He told the teller on duty, Pat 

Hull, that he wanted to come in and get $8,500 in cash. RP 1345-51. 

They joked on the phone. RP 1382. Ed arrived at the bank about 10:30 

a.m. When Hull asked about Minnie, Ed told her she was outside in the car 

because she was not feeling well. RP 13 51 . 

. . . I asked about Minnie and I told him to go have her 
come in and have coffee and cookies, because that's what 
we usually did. He said, no, she didn't feel well and he 
would go ask her if she wanted to come back in so he went 
back out to the car. 

RP 1351. 

Ed also told Hull he would use the money to buy a car. RP 1350, 

1353. He was calm and again joked with Hull. !d. The Maurins still had 

more than $30,000 in another untouched account. RP 707. 

2 Nearly all of the witnesses agreed that December 19, 1985 was a very foggy day in 
Lewis County. 
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Many people called in with tips. There were two groups of 

witnesses: those who saw the Maurins' car in and around Chehalis on the 

morning of the 19th and those who saw a man walking near Yard birds 

carrying a gun. The times and locations varied and were often conflicting. 

Merle Pickering and Rock Swartz reported seeing a white car 

pulling out of the Maurins' driveway about 9:30a.m. on December 19, 

1985. RP 907, 912. Lindsey Senter reported seeing two white males 

walking a mile from the Maurin home on the 19th about 8:00 to 9:00 a.m. 

RP 921-24. 

Norman Laymon saw the Maurins driving up Highway 12 about 

11:00 a.m. on the 19th. RP 966-977. He wasn't entirely sure about his 

description of the man he thought he saw with the Maurins: 

A I don't remember telling him the description 
because I don't really know for sure. 

Q You don't know for sure. Do you believe you gave 
them a description of the guy in the back? 

A No. 

Q Did you tell them that the guy in the back was a 
good sized person? 

A · Well, I thought so but best I could tell. 

Q That he was wearing a khaki colored jacket? 

A I thought so yes. 

Q Youtold--
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A I just assumed so. 

Q Well, you assumed it but you also told the officer 
about 10 or 12 days later, didn't you? 

A Something like that. Yeah, something like that. 

RP 982-83. 

Kenneth Paul saw three people in a car similar to the Maurins' on 

Bunker Creek Road. RP 1055-59. Virginia Cummings also saw a young 

man walking alone near Yardbirds. RP 1149-58. Steve Amoraso saw 

three people in a green car. RP 1085-88. There was a young man in the 

back seat with a partial beard. RP 1089. 

William Reisinger observed the Maurins' car with a passenger in 

the back seat. RP 127 4-78. Later, he saw the same car being driven by 

one person either with dark hair or wearing a dark stocking cap and 

gloves. RP 1279-82. Deanne and Jeff Scherer saw a green car in the 

Yardbird's parking lot about 9:00a.m. RP 1309-12, 1315-17. 

James Heminger saw a dark haired man wearing a stocking cap 

and green coat walking near Yardbirds carrying a gun. RP 1318-19, 1321-

26. Similarly, Marjorie Hadaller saw a man walking near Yardbirds with a 

gun. RP 1337. Beverly Gestrine also observed a man in that area with a 

gun. RP 1622-46. See also, testimony of Yvonne Miller. RP 1930-1942. 

Seventeen-year-old Jason Shriver and his mother were driving to a 

dentist appointment on the morning of December 19, 1985. RP 2267-68. 
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The Shriver family lived in Mossyrock. They saw the Maurin vehicle on 

the road. RP 2268. When the sheriff came to the Shriver home on 

December 23, 1985, to talk to them about what happened to the Maurins, 

Shriver refused to talk to him: 

A Sure. I was in bed the 23rd, when the sheriff crune and I 
didn't want to talk to him. 

Q You remember that, because you still weren't feeling 
well? 

A I remember that, because my mom said the Sheriff's 
here, he wants to talk to you about what happened to the 
Maurins. I said, I'm not talking to him. I told you not to say 
anything. 

RP 2268. Shriver's mother was deceased by the time of trial. 

Frank Perkins told the police that he pulled into a truck stop on 

December 19 about 8:30 to 9:30a.m. While there, he saw a car with an 

older couple it the front seat and a "younger fellow s[i]tting between the 

two in. the backseat." RP 997. The person in the back was white, in his 

20's with a dishwater blond beard. RP 997, 1036. He was wearing a 

stocking cap and military fatigue jacket or old army jacket. RP 998. Later 

that day, Perkins drove by Yardbirds. RP 1003. I-Ie stated that he saw a 

man cruTying a small caliber rifle or a small bore shotgun. RP 1023, 1036. 

He told the police two or three times he could not identify the face of the 

young person in the backseat because he only got a glimpse of him. RP 

1027. 
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On December 26, 1985, Officer William Forth reported that he 

believed that he had seen the Maurin vehicle being driven into Chehalis at 

11:10 a.m. RP 1217. There was only one person in the car. He told his 

fellow officers he saw only three inches of the back of the driver's neck. 

RP 1226. He never saw that person look into the rearview mirror. He 

followed the vehicle into town but never stopped it. RP 1178. 

Detective Frank Bennett contacted Nonna Pierce, the Maurins' 

neighbor, on December 20, 1985. In her recorded statement she said she 

saw headlights at the Maurin home on the morning of December 19, 1985. 

RP 212,218. Defendant's Ex. 696: marked for identification on 12/20/85. 

On December 22, 1985, Pierce called back and said she needed to 

report something that happened "two weeks prior." According to the 

police report: 

She stated that the subject in a older red Ford pickup 
followed her home. She stated that the subject came to her 
door, knocked on the door, and asked if husband was home. 

She described the person as 6', 30 years plus, 170-75 lbs, 
dark brown hair, mustache, blue jeans, plaid shirt, and a 
blue jean jacket. 

Defendant's Exhibit 697. 

Detective Glade Austin learned that Sheri Amell and Mary Jones 

were potential witnesses. Amell told Austin that on December 19, 1985, 

she and Jones were on their lunch break at about noon. RP 1676. They 
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were about to enter the Y ardbirds parking lot when she saw a man walk 

out from behind some "containers" carrying a gun. RP 1676. She 

described the man as 27 or 28 years old, about 5'10", thin, about 140 lbs. 

RP 1682. He was wearing a green army jacket and a stocking cap. Id He 

was white, with dark hair, a mustache, and "two or three days growth 

beard." RP 1683, 1713. She and Jones were shown montages, but neither 

could identify the person they saw. RP 792.3 

The investigators took taped statements from both women.4 The 

police took Amell and Jones to Portland that same day. RP 756-57. The 

two women gave information to a police officer/forensic artist named 

Boulin, who produced a "composite" sketch. RP 756-57. This composite 

sketch was widely distributed on December 24, 1985. RP 762-63. 

Later, Amell and Jones were taken to a second sketch artist in 

Seattle. RP 1694. Detective Austin explained that the police did this 

because "Sheri Amell in particular mentioned she wasn't entirely happy 

with the first one." RP 794. 

On January 6, 1988, Gordon Campbell went to the Lewis County 

police and told them about his observations in the Y ardbirds parking lot 

3 According to Kimsey, the records prepared before 2005 did not make it clear what 
pictures or montages where shown to potential witnesses. RP 3523-24. 

4 By the time of trial, Maty Jones had died. 
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around December 19, 1985. RP 4636-37,4660. He could not remember 

the date, but he reported that about two years earlier he had seen a man 

walking near Yardbirds carrying a weapon. RP 4638, 4668. He could not 

identify anyone from the montages presented to him. RP 4642, 4675. He 

confinned that statement with Detective K~msey in June 2012. RP 4642. 

In sum, people had seen the Maurins in their car with one or two 

other people. The general description of the person seen near the 

Yardbirds parking lot was a white male under 30 wearing a green army 

coat, and a stocking cap. RP 3465. This person had a two to three day 

growth of beard. RP 3465. But on Christmas Day 1985, Rick Riffe had a 

full beard. RP 1820-21, 3507; Exhibit 887. 

For years, Hadaller family members believed that Rick and John 

Gregory Riffe were responsible for the murders. RP 104-05. Dennis 

Hadaller obtained updated photos of the brothers and gave them to law 

enforcement officers. RP 188-90. Both Riffe brothers were well known in 

their home town of Mossyrock. RP 2367. One State's witness said that 

Mossyrock gossip had identified the Riffe brothers as potential suspects 

for years. RP 2382-83. 

In 1991, Lewis County deputies received a tip they should contact 

Robin Riffe, Rick's ex-wife. She was dead by the time of trial, so the 

defense moved to exclude any of her conversations or actions with the 
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police. After considerable argument, the judge decided that Deputy David 

Neiser could testify to one thing: when he called Robin and introduced 

himself, he told her he wanted to talk about an "old homicide." RP 1494. 

She replied: "You mean the one where two old people were killed?" !d. 

The judge ruled: "The statement on the phone can come in, because that's 

not hearsay." RP 1480. 

The police knew that Rick had access to a sawed-off shotgun in 

1984-85. RP 1777, 1902. His friend, Les George, had purchased the gun 

on October 3, 1984, to put in his long haul truck for protection. RP 2065-

70. He gave it to Rick to cut down. RP 2071-72. But Rick returned it in 

the fall of 1985. RP 2148. Les's mother testified that later found the 

shotgun in Les's room and told her husband Richard Zandeki to get rid of 

it. RP 2404. But Zandeki said that at some point local police talked him 

about the homicides. RP 2433-34. So Zandeki wanted to "get rid of it." 

RP 2433. He threw the gun off the Mayfield Lake Bridge. RP 2426-27. It 

was never recovered. 

Neither John Gregory nor Rick Riffe was arrested and there were 

no solid leads from the official investigation. RP 813-14. Dennis Hadaller, 

became frustrated with the investigation. RP 176. He said that at his 

mother's funeral: "I laid my hand on her casket and I said, mom, I'll find 

out who did this to you and Ed and until the day I die I will keep this up." 
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RP 178. Sometime around 2000 he hired two private investigators to look 

into the case. RP 181. He received monthly reports from them. RP 182. 

In 2005, Lewis County Detective Kimsey was assigned to the case. 

RP 3229. He began re-interviewing witnesses and developed the theory 

that at Christmas 1985, Rick appeared to have more money than usual (RP 

1794-96, 1830-43,2690-93, 2855-2871), and that he and Robin engaged 

in a large purchase of drugs.s RP 2816-52. 

As discussed below, after speaking with Kimsey, several witnesses 

changed their statements and for the first time in 27 years, identified 

pictures of Rick Riffe and his brother John Gregory Riffe, as being the 

person in the Maurins' car or the person walking along the road near 

Yardbirds. John Gregory died shortly before Rick was arrested. The media 

reported Rick's arrest in the summer of2012 and published pictures of the 

brothers. At that point, additional witnesses appeared. 

C. THETRIAL 

No evidence recovered from the home or vehicle was ever tied to 

the Riffe brothers. RP 690-91. The State even subjected some items to 

updated DNA testing. The State's case was based exclusively on various 

5 It was undisputed that in the 1980's Rick, Robin and Greg used drugs. See, e.g., RP 
2036-50, 2733-34. 
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eyewitness identifications made from montage photos or the composite 

sketches, and the testimony of a jailhouse snitch, Erwin Bartlett. 

Nanna Pierce changed her story. She acknowledged that she had 

been interviewed by the police on December 20, 1985. RP 212. She 

repeated that it was foggy on the morning ofDecember 19, 1985. RP 215. 

The fog was thick and dense. !d. But she heard voices and observed 

headlights coming from the direction ofthe Maurin home. RP 217-18. She 

heard no sounds of distress. RP 241-42. 

However, she changed her statement concerning the stranger who 

appeared at her door. She now stated the man knocked on her door on 

December 18, 1985- not two weeks before the murders. RP 223. She 

described him as "probably 5-foot-9" and in his "mid to late 20's" with a 

medium build and dark hair, and wearing jeans and a blue jean jacket. RP 

228-29, 255. 

Kimsey showed Pierce a photomontage. Over Rick Riffe's picture, 

someone wrote: "Looks most like the person you saw on December 18, 

1985." Someone dated the picture "6-12-2012" and Nonna Pierce initialed 

it, "N.P." RP 231-34; Exhibit 189. 

At trial the prosecutor asked: 

Q: Nonna are you- is your testimony today that the 
individual in this photograph that you selected out is 
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absolutely 100 percent the person you saw on your front 
porch that day? 

A: Yes, I believe with all my heart, yes, it is. 

RP 235,247. 

In cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to impeach Pierce 

with her statement from 1985. Exhibit 700. The prosecutor objected and 

stated: 

Object to this line of questioning with this exhibit. It is not 
a statement. 

RP 249. Outside the presence of the jury, the prosecutor argued that 

Exhibit 700 was not Pierce's "statement." Rather, it was a summary "of 

her statement" to law enforcement in 1985. The Court ruled: 

This is not her statement. This is Detective Bennett's 
statement ... This is what the officer says the witness 
related to him, so it is hearsay. 

RP 251. Further, the judge ruled that it was not Pierce's statement because 

"she hasn't signed it and it is not tape recorded." Id. The judge said "I will 

not allow you to use the statement." RP 252. 

When the examination resumed, defense counsel asked about the 

timing of her statement to the police about the stranger on her porch. RP 

254. He asked: 

Q: Is it true that you told the officer that in fact the 
person showing up on your doorstep came at a much later 
date about four or five days after the Maurins disappeared? 

15 



A: No. 

RP 254. Defense counsel persisted: 

Q: Is it true, ma'am, four or five days after the Maurins 
disappeared that was the first time you told the police 
officer about this fellow showing up on your doorstep. 

A: No. That's not true. 

RP 254-55. Defense counsel again asked: 

Q: Is it true, it was four or five days after the Maurins 
disappeared that you told the officer the guy that showed up 
on your doorstep to get gas actually came to your door two 
weeks prior and not the day prior at all? 

A: No. 

Q: Isn't it true that on that day - on that second day 
four or five days after the Maurin's disappeared. You 
actually told that officer that the guy that showed up on 
your doorstep was thirty years plus years-old; is that true? 

A: No. I guessed he was probably in his mid to late 
20's, and I was I was guessing. I didn't know how old he 
was. 

Q: Is it true that you also told that person that same 
officer that the person that came to your doorstep two 
weeks prior to the Maurins disappearing weighed between 
170 to one 175 pounds? 

A: I didn't tell anybody that someone came to my door 
two weeks prior. 

RP 255. 

On cross-examination Pierce said that the man who came to her 

door had no beard. RP 264. She also conceded that when she picked 
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Riffe's picture from the montage he was the "most consistent" with the 

person on her front porch in 1985. RP 277. She also conceded that after 

picking Riffe's photo she might have picked the wrong person. RP 280. 

For the next 11 pages of transcript, defense counsel questioned 

Pierce about her 2012 statement to Kimsey. Exhibit 726. Defense counsel 

repeatedly attempted to get Pierce to acknowledge that Kimsey was the 

person who suggested to her that the person appeared on her porch on 

December 18, 1985. Kimsey began his interview by stating to Pierce: 

And so you provided a statement of information that you 
heard as far as cars and fog and the time period and what I 
was interested in is you made a report to the Sheriffs office 
back in December of 1985 and what you're talking about is 
before the Maurins went missing so it's probably December 
18 in the mid-morning about 10:30, 11:00 a truck pulls into 
your driveway. 

Exhibit 726. 

And even in Kimsey's interview, Pierce never said the person was 

on her porch on December 18, 1985. Exhibit 726. Similarly, Pierce 

refused to admit that during the 2012 interview she twice stated that she 

was not "1 00 percent sure" that she had picked the correct person. Exhibit 

726; RP 270-90. The judge acknowledged that the witness appeared to be 

very "hostile" to the defense. RP 268. And that: 

I suspect she's probably ofthe opinion that she's not going 
to do anything or say anything that would in any way, 
shape or form help the defense ... 
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!d. At one point, Pierce refused to reread her prior statement. RP 292. 

Defense counsel moved to admit her June 2012 statement to 

Kimsey. Exhibit 726; RP 289. The trial judge denied the motion. Id 

Defense counsel questioned Pierce further and she stated she could not 

remember "exactly" what she told Kimsey. RP 294. But she stated that on 

that day her memory was "good." RP 294-95. Defense counsel again 

moved to admit the statement. The judge again denied the motion. RP 295. 

On redirect, the prosecutor asked: 

Q: Did you tell Detective Kimsey at any point during 
this interview that you could not make a 100 percent 
positive identification? 

A: No. 

RP 296. After Pierce was excused, defense counsel complained that once 

shown her prior inconsistent statement, Pierce would refuse to answer, 

frustrating cross-examination. RP 302. The Court stated that the defense 

could not impeach Pierce by asking her "isn't it true" that you told Kimsey 

something different. RP 304-06. He stated that the proper impeachment 

was to call Kimsey. RP 306. 

The next day, the judge modified his ruling and permitted defense 

counsel to recall Pierce. When Pierce was recalled she professed she did 

not remember her statement to Kimsey. RP 603. She could read that 

portion of the statement where she said that she was not "1 00 percent 
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sure" that the person she saw on her porch was Riffe. RP 604-07. But in 

re-direct, she again stated that she was 100 percent sure that it was Rifle. 

RP 616. 

William Forth changed his story. He testified that as a police 

officer he had followed the case and saw the composite sketches. He had 

been upset for years that he did not stop the green car he observed on 

December 19, 1985. It appeared to be one reason he left the Sheriff's 

Department. RP 1231, 1249. 

In his testimony, Forth asserted that he had seen the person driving 

the car. He said that he had locked eyes with the driver. RP 1167. He 

said that his first thought was "this is an individual that may have done 

something wrong." RP 1168. He also thought: "That individual had 

committed a crime such as burglary." RP 1169. Further, he said: 

You could see fear in those eyes. There was a deep 
concern, a very deep concern for me being back there. 

RP 1176. He asserted the driver was in his mid to late-20's with whiskers. 

RP 1170. And, he even reported that he saw a red blanket on the seat of 

the car. RP 1174-75. 

On April11, 1991, six years later, Forth was shown a montage by 

Lewis County Detectives. He picked Rick Riffe's picture and said, 

"That's the son of a bitch that killed the Maurins." RP 1233. More than 
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21 years later, in late January 20 12, he was again shown a montage by 

Detective Kimsey. This time he picked John Gregory Riffe's picture. RP 

1197-1207, 3484. He told Kimsey he was 100 percent positive it was 

John Gregory Riffe who he saw driving the car. RP 3484. 

Forth met with Kimsey again on February 22, 2012. According to 

Kimsey, during the 2012 interview "there should have been additional 

questions of what happened." RP 3473. Kimsey later agreed in his 

testimony that in Forth's 1985 statement there was no description ofthe 

driver of the green car. RP 3477. 

More than a year and half later, the day before trial in October 

2013, prosecutors told Forth he had picked two different people as the 

driver of the car. RP 1209. The prosecutor asked: 

If you had to select between two of these photographs, 
which one would you believe was more reliable as far as 
your selection? 

RP 1208. Forth said: 

I would pick the photo that I picked in 1991 because that 
was the most current to the time of the homicide. 

RP 1208-09. 

Gordon Campbell changed his story. He testified that more than

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