A. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Petitioner, Ricky Allen Riffe, seeks review of the 

unpublished opinion in State v. Riffe, Court of Appeals, Division II, 

cause number 45744-0-11, filed November 10, 2015, attached for the 

Court's convenience as Appendix A.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it held that the trial court 
did not abuse its discretion when it denied Riffe's request 
to present an expert witness to testify about memory and 
eyewitness identification? 

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The State provided a lengthy statement of the facts in its 

underlying briefing, as this case was a cold case homicide that 

encompassed nearly 30 years and the State called over 90 

witnesses. The Court of Appeals decision also has an extensive 

statement of the facts of this case. For purposes of responding to this 

petition the State does not believe it is necessary to spend a 

significant amount of time going back over these facts and will be 

relying upon the statement of facts in and the unpublished opinion 

for purposes of this response. 

On the underlying appeal Riffe raised a number of issues, all 

of which the Court of Appeals ruled in the State's favor. Riffe has 
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chosen to petition for review only on one issue, the trial court's 

exclusion of his proposed expert witness. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED 

The Court should not accept review in this case. The issue is 

not a significant question under the Constitution of the United States 

or the Washington State Constitution, there is not a conflict between 

the decision in this case and other cases in this State, nor is this an 

issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1 )-(4). The issue the 

Court of Appeals reviewed was whether the trial court abused its 

discretion regarding the admissibility of evidence, an expert witness. 

E. ARGUMENT. 

The Court of Appeals analysis of the trial court's decision was 

correct, as the Court of Appeals applied an abuse of discretion 

standard when it reviewed the trial court's decision to exclude Riffe's 

proposed expert witness. This holding by the Court of Appeals, 

reviewing an evidentiary determination, by a trial court, even 

regarding an alleged expert on eyewitness identification, does not 

meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to grant 

review. 
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1. The Court Of Appeals Decision, Finding The Trial Court 
Did Not Abuse Its' Discretion When It Excluded Riffe's 
Proposed Expert Witness, Does Not Warrant Review, As 
It Is Not A Significant Issue Of Public Importance, Nor Is It 
In Conflict With Other Appellate Court Decisions. 

It is within the sound discretion of the trial court to determine 

the admissibility of proposed expert testimony. In re Morris, 176 

Wn.2d 157, 168, 288 P.3d 1140 (2012). The Court of Appeals 

correctly applied this standard to the trial court's ruling excluding 

Riffe's proposed expert, Dr. Reinitz. COA Op. 45744-0-11, 10.1 Riffe's 

appellate counsel, as was done in the briefing below, once again 

does an excellent job outlining a lot of information that supports the 

position that Riffe's proposed expert and his testimony would have 

been admissible. Petition 37-44. The reality is, the trial court gave 

Riffe's counsel ample opportunity to provide more information, even 

have Dr. Reinitz come in and do an offer of proof, regarding his 

credentials and the basic substance of the testimony, explaining how 

it would be helpful to the jury, and trial counsel declined the invitation. 

RP 3842-45, 3867-76, 3885. Trial counsel elected to argue his point 

from the brief he submitted. RP 3868-96; CP 156-66. 

1 The State will refer to the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion hereafter as COA Op. 
and the page number. 
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Riffe's trial counsel had to establish by a preponderance of 

the evidence that Dr. Reinitz and the proposed testimony met the 

requirements of ER 702, because as the proponent of the evidence 

he must show they are relevant and material to meet the foundational 

requirements. State v. Nava, 177 Wn. App. 272, 290, 311 P.3d 83 

(2013) (citations omitted); State v. Hilton, 164 Wn. App. 81, 99, 261 

P .3d 683 (2011 ). The trial court found Riffe's trial counsel was lacking 

in his foundational requirement and ruled the evidence was not 

admissible. 

As he did in his briefing below, Riffe misstates the trial courts 

findings in regards to the trial court's holding whether the proposed 

testimony of Dr. Reinitz is generally accepted in the scientific 

community. Petition 37. Riffe claims the trial court erroneously held 

that scientific findings regarding the limits of eyewitness testimony is 

not generally accepted and the Court of Appeals erred when it 

affirmed this ruling, which therefore would support review by this 

Court. Yet, that was not the trial court's finding. The trial court actually 

held, "[t]he defendant, in this case, has failed to show that the 

proposed testimony of Dr. Mark Reinitz is generally accepted in the 

scientific community." CP 386 (Conclusion of Law 2.5). There is a 

stark difference. Given the information, or lack thereof, Riffe's trial 
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counsel provided the trial court in regards to the proposed 

testimony's general scientific acceptance; the trial court did not 

abuse its discretion in rendering this conclusion, and in fact reached 

the only conclusion available. 

In regards to helpful to the trier of fact, the Court of Appeals 

noted, correctly, that the trial court, even after the offer of proof still 

lacked a satisfactory explanation as to what Dr. Reinitz would 

actually testify about or how it would be helpful to the jury. The 

explanation given by trial counsel was, 

Dr. Reinitz will explain that all of that is actually counter
intuitive, and that memory for example can actually 
become more accurate with time contrary to what 
people think. It can naturally also become less 
accurate, which he says is intuitive and consistent with 
what most people think, but actually most of those 
factors come into play that time doesn't necessarily 
affect memory, other influences do. 

RP 3872. Memory can become more or less accurate over time. That 

is not helpful to the trier of fact. There were 90 witnesses. There were 

at least two witnesses who had identified both Rick and Greg as the 

person they had saw that day, when they had only seen one person. 

RP 1161-1208 1691-1700, 1745-1750. Out of the witnesses who 

testified, seven strangers identified Rick or Greg Riffe. RP 602-23, 

990-1037, 1112-34, 1190-1206, 1674-1752, 4636-57, 2448-84. 

There were four people who knew Greg and Rick Riffe who made 
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identifications. RP 1943-70, 1982-2020, 2205-10, 2321-25, 2359-69. 

The trial court's determination that it was not going to allow the 

testimony because it was not helpful to the trier of fact, under the 

information given to the trial court and the facts of Riffe's case, was 

not based on untenable or unreasonable grounds and therefore the 

trial court did not abuse its discretion when it made its ruling. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with 

other appellate court decisions regarding the admission of experts. 

Riffe cites to State v. Groth, 163 Wn. App. 548,261 P.3d 183 (2011), 

review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1026 (2012) as an example of how the 

Court of Appeals standard for what is required for an expert is in 

conflict with other decisions. But this is inaccurate. In Groth there 

was considerable testimony presented regarding expert, Joel 

Harden's, experience and expertise. Groth, 163 Wn. App. at 562. 

Harden, an expert tracker was allowed to also opine to what the 

tracks indicated, that two people were physically moving, such as 

dancing or struggling. /d. Groth claimed later on appeal this was 

beyond Harden's expertise and Riffe now uses this case to argue 

that expert is a low bar. But the Court of Appeals in Groth noted that 

the unique field of tracking is broad, covers and overlaps, even 

scientific, disciplines such as shoe impressions. /d. at 563. This is 
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not in conflict with the ruling in Riffe's case. The Court of Appeals in 

Riffe merely agreed that the trial court had not abused its discretion 

because Riffe's trial counsel had not provided sufficient information, 

in way of his offer of proof, to establish Dr. Reinitz as an expert in the 

field for which they were going to be offering his testimony. There is 

no conflict between the divisions. 

The trial court's ruling was not an abuse of discretion. The 

Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's ruling of a basic 

evidentiary rule is not an issue that is in conflict between the divisions 

of the court of appeals. This is not an issue of significant public 

importance and therefore, review is not warranted by this Court. 

2. There Is Not A Significant Constitutional Question, As The 
Controlling United States Precedent Does Not State That 
A Criminal Defendant Does Not Have To Minimally 
Comport With Basic Evidentiary Rules. 

Riffe argues that review should be accepted because the 

Court of Appeals went against controlling United States Supreme 

Court precedent regarding his right to put on a defense. According 

to Riffe, the Compulsory Clause and his right to Due Process trump 

well-established rules of evidence. Holmes v. South Carolina does 

not support this premises and Riffe's argument fails. Holmes v. South 

Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 326-27, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 167 L. Ed.2d 503 

(2006). 
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A defendant does not have an absolute right to present 

evidence. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713,720,230 P.3d 576 (2010). 

Without adherence to the rules of evidence and other procedural 

limitations the adversary process would not function effectively 

because it is imperative that each party be given a fair opportunity, 

within the rules, "to assemble and submit evidence to contradict or 

explain the opponent's case." Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410-

11, 108 S. Ct. 646, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988). 

Evidence presented by a defendant must be at the very least 

minimally relevant and there is no constitutional right for a defendant 

to present irrelevant evidence. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720. If a 

defendant can show that the evidence is relevant then the burden 

shifts to the State to show the trial court that the evidence is so 

prejudicial that it will "disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process 

at trial." /d. Invoking the right to compulsory process is not a free pass 

to present evidence that would be considered inadmissible under the 

Rules of Evidence. Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 414. 

The Court has been circumspect when assessing whether the 

exclusion of certain evidence amounts to a constitutional violation. 

Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 689-90,106 S. Ct. 2142, 90 L. Ed. 

2d 636 (1986). Even where Confrontation Clause rights are 
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implicated, a trial judge still retains wide latitude and may exclude 

prejudicial evidence or evidence that may confuse the issues. 

Delaware v. Van Arsda/1, 475 U.S. 673,106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 

674 (1986); see also Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 108 S. Ct. 646, 

98 L. Ed. 798 (1988) (an accused does not have an unfettered right 

to offer testimony that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise 

inadmissible under standard rules of evidence-court properly 

excluded defense witness for a willful discovery violation); United 

States v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 118 S. Ct. 1261, 140 L. Ed. 2d 413 

(1998) (rules excluding evidence do not abridge an accused's right 

to present a defense so long as they are not arbitrary or 

disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve-rule 

excluding polygraph evidence proper exercise of legitimate State 

interest in ensuring that only reliable evidence is presented at trial). 

Therefore, to state that by applying ER 702 foundational 

requirements, including an offer of proof of how the testimony would 

be helpful, i.e. relevant, to the trier of fact, if a violation of Riffe's right 

to present a defense under the Due Process clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment and the Compulsory Clause of the Sixth Amendment is 

simply untrue. This is not an issue of Constitutional importance. This 

was an evidentiary matter that was correctly handled by the trial court 
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based upon the information that Riffe's trial counsel gave the judge 

at the time of the hearing. Such a matter does not warrant review by 

this Court. 

F. CONCLUSION 

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review 

on the issue Riffe raises in his petition for review. If this Court were 

to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity 

to submit supplemental briefing.